

Observational constraints on the primordial curvature power spectrum

To cite this article: Razieh Emami and George F. Smoot JCAP01(2018)007

View the article online for updates and enhancements.



A A IOP Astronomy ebooks

Part of your publishing universe and your first choice for astronomy, astrophysics, solar physics and planetary science ebooks.

iopscience.org/books/aas

ournal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics

Observational constraints on the primordial curvature power spectrum

Razieh Emami^a and George F. Smoot^{b,c,d}

^aInstitute for Advanced Study, The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Clear Water Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong

^bHelmut and Anna Pao Sohmen Professor-at-Large, IAS,

Hong Kong University of Science and Technology,

Clear Water Bay, Kowloon, 999077 Hong Kong, China

^cParis Centre for Cosmological Physics, APC, AstroParticule et Cosmologie, Université Paris Diderot, CNRS/IN2P3, CEA/lrfu, Université Sorbonne Paris Cité, 10, rue Alice Domon et Leonie Duquet, 75205 Paris CEDEX 13, France

^dPhysics Department and Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, University of California, Berkeley, 94720 CA, U.S.A.

E-mail: iasraziehm@ust.hk, gfsmoot@lbl.gov

Received September 26, 2017 Revised December 27, 2017 Accepted December 30, 2017 Published January 9, 2018

Abstract. CMB temperature fluctuation observations provide a precise measurement of the primordial power spectrum on large scales, corresponding to wavenumbers 10^{-3} Mpc⁻¹ \leq $k \lesssim 0.1 \text{ Mpc}^{-1}$, [1–7, 11]. Luminous red galaxies and galaxy clusters probe the matter power spectrum on overlapping scales (0.02 Mpc⁻¹ $\leq k \leq 0.7$ Mpc⁻¹; [10, 12–20]), while the Lyman-alpha forest reaches slightly smaller scales (0.3 Mpc⁻¹ $\lesssim k \lesssim 3$ Mpc⁻¹; [22]). These observations indicate that the primordial power spectrum is nearly scale-invariant with an amplitude close to 2×10^{-9} , [5, 23–28]. These observations strongly support Inflation and motivate us to obtain observations and constraints reaching to smaller scales on the primordial curvature power spectrum and by implication on Inflation. We are able to obtain limits to much higher values of $k \leq 10^5 \text{ Mpc}^{-1}$ and with less sensitivity even higher $k \leq 10^{19} - 10^{23}$ Mpc⁻¹ using limits from CMB spectral distortions and other limits on ultracompact minihalo objects (UCMHs) and Primordial Black Holes (PBHs). PBHs are one of the known candidates for the Dark Matter (DM). Due to their very early formation, they could give us valuable information about the primordial curvature perturbations. These are complementary to other cosmological bounds on the amplitude of the primordial fluctuations. In this paper, we revisit and collect all the published constraints on both PBHs and UCMHs. We show that unless one uses the CMB spectral distortion, PBHs give us a very relaxed bounds on the primordial curvature perturbations. UCMHs, on the other hand, are very informative

over a reasonable k range $(3 \leq k \leq 10^6 \text{ Mpc}^{-1})$ and lead to significant upper-bounds on the curvature spectrum. We review the conditions under which the tighter constraints on the UCMHs could imply extremely strong bounds on the fraction of DM that could be PBHs in reasonable models. Failure to satisfy these conditions would lead to over production of the UCMHs which is inconsistent with the observations. Therefore, we can almost rule out PBH within their overlap scales with the UCMHs. We compare the UCMH bounds coming from those experiments which are sensitive to the nature of the DM, such as γ -rays, Neutrinos and Reionization, with those which are insensitive to the type of the DM, e.g. the pulsar-timing as well as CMB spectral distortion. We explicitly show that they lead to comparable results which are independent of the type of DM. These bounds however do depend on the required initial density perturbation, i.e. δ_{\min} . It could be either a constant or a scale-dependent function. As we will show, the constraints differ by three orders of magnitude depend on our choice of required initial perturbations.

Keywords: CMBR theory, cosmological perturbation theory, dark matter theory, inflation

ArXiv ePrint: 1705.09924

Contents

1	Introduction					
2	A consideration of PBHs and their limits on the curvature power spectrum					
	2.1	Observ	Observational constraints on the abundance of the PBHs			
		2.1.1	Disk heating	6		
		2.1.2	Wide binary disruption	6		
		2.1.3	Fast radio bursts	6		
		2.1.4	Quasar microlensing	6		
		2.1.5	Microlensing	6		
		2.1.6	GRB femtolensing	6		
		2.1.7	Reionization and the 21 cm signature	7		
		2.1.8	CMB spectral distortion	7		
		2.1.9	Photodissociation of deutrium	7		
		2.1.10	Hadron injection	7		
		2.1.11	Quasi stable massive particles	7		
		2.1.12	Lightest supersymmetric particle	8		
		2.1.13	Planck mass relics	8		
	2.2 Constraints on the primordial power spectrum		aints on the primordial power spectrum	8		
		2.2.1	The first way to put limit on curvature power spectrum	8		
		2.2.2	The second way to put limit on curvature power spectrum	11		
3	UCMHs and inferred limits on the primordial curvature power spectrum					
	3.1	.1 Formation and the structure of UCMHs				
	3.2 Constraining UCMH abundance from different astro-particle-physical ex					
		ments		15		
		3.2.1	Gama-ray searches from UCMHs by Fermi-LAT	15		
		3.2.2	Neutrino signals from UCMHs by IceCube/DeepCore	16		
		3.2.3	Change in reionization observed by WMAP/Planck	17		
		3.2.4	Lensing time delay in pulsar timing by ATNF catalogue	18		
		3.2.5	Limits on CMB spectral distortion by COBE/FIRAS	19		
	3.3	Constr	raints on the primordial power spectrum	20		
4	Det	Determining the curvature perturbation from CMB, Lyman- $lpha$ and LSS				
5	Con	Constraining the Dark Matter mass fraction for PBHs and UCMHs				
	5.1	Direct	constraints on f_{DM} in both of PBHs and the UCMHs	25		
	5.2	Indired	ct constraints on f_{DM} of PBH due to tight limits on the UCMHs	25		
		5.2.1	Pulsar timing implications expanded	26		
6	Con	Conclusion 27				

1 Introduction

One of the main issues in modern cosmology is the existence for and the nature of a nonbaryonic missing matter, called the dark matter (DM). Different observations continue to show the necessity of DM at various scales and redshifts. However, the nature of this component is still not clear. There are plenty of different candidates to describe the DM, which could be categorized into various classes. One (very well-known) class of models contain particles with masses range out from (very) light scalars such as axions, [29], to heavier particles like the neutralino, [30], or even ultra-massive particles like WIMPs, [31]. Another class of models is using astrophysical compact objects as the DM. This contains the primordial black holes (PBHs) as well as ultracompact minihalos (UCMHs).

The idea of PBH was first proposed by Zel'dovich and Novikov, [32]. And, it was further developed by Hawking, [33, 34]. Chapline was the first person who put forward the idea of using the PBHs as DM, [35]. The discovery of gravitational waves by LIGO team, [36], from two merging black holes with masses of the order $30M_{\odot}$, revived this idea in [37, 38]. This brought back the previous interest on using PBHs as a candidate for the DM by a lot of authors, [39–46]. There have been also many tests to probe these early universe scenarios, [47–70].

The idea of UCMHs was firstly proposed by Ricotti and Gould, [71] where they put forward the idea of existence of UCMH as a new type of massive compact halo objects, here after MACHO. UCMHs were further considered in [72–81].

One of the biggest differences between the PBHs and the UCMHs is the time of their formation. Due to the necessity of having a much larger primordial density perturbations to form PBHs, the gravitational collapse would happen much earlier, during the radiation dominance for the PBH and not until the matter-radiation equality for the UCMHs.

Before going through the detail description of PBHs and the UCMHs, it is worth briefly discussing some possible formation mechanisms. As the requirement for creating PBHs are more severe as compared with the UCMHs, we just focus on their formation. For sure, some of these mechanisms could be also applied for the case of the UCMHs as well. The first mechanism to produce PBHs was proposed in 1993 by Dolgov and Silk, [82], where they use the QCD transition to form PBH with mass of the order of the solar mass. This interesting idea was later developed in [83]. Although further achievements in the QCD theory disfavored the first order phase transition, which is required for this model to work, it was a good starting work for people to think about different formalisms that could possibly create PBHs. In principle, these mechanisms could be divided into few different categories. In the following, we briefly mention them. We reference the interested reader into the papers for further study.

(1) Inflationary driven PBHs: one of the main candidates to produce the PBHs is using inflation. However, there are some issues that must be considered in this regard. In the single field inflationary models, the density fluctuations are in general well below than the required threshold to generate the PBH. So modifications to the inflaton potential are indeed necessary to achieve the minimal requirements for the PBH production. This can be done either by considering the blue tilted potentials or some forms of the running of the spectral index. However, the generated mass is too tiny, well below the solar mass. There are several mechanisms that can be useful to boost the mass range of the PBHs into the astrophysical or the cosmological values. For example, this can

be done in different multi-field inflationary models, such as in Hybrid inflation, [85–87], double inflation, [88–92], curvaton inflation, [93–95], in particle production during Inflation, [96–98], or during trapped inflation, [99], and inflection point inflation, [45]. In these models, the small scale perturbations could be boosted into scales ranging up from the stellar mass PBH to a super-massive PBHs etc.

- (2) Enhancement of PBH due to secondary effects: regardless of the origin of the primordial inhomogeneities, there could be some secondary effects which somehow make an enhancement in the formation of the PBHs. Such an improvement may happen during a sudden decrease in the pressure, e.g. when the universe does pass through a dust-like phase happening as a results of the existence of Non-relativistic particles, [100, 101], or during the reheating phase, [102].
- (3) PBH formation without initial inhomogeneities: as another possibility, PBHs could also be formed during some sorts of the phase transitions in the universe. The very important point is that in this case, they do not even need any initial inhomogeneities to start with. This could happen from bubble collision, [103–108], from the collapse of the cosmic string, [109–116], or from the domain walls, [117–120]. Generally cosmic strings would be anticipated to be at a smaller mass range, [112, 116].

There are many constraints on the abundance of both of PBHs as well as the UCMHs. And, as we point out in what follows, it turns out that they can not make the whole of the DM.

Since the compact objects are formed from density fluctuations with (large) initial amplitudes, the above constraints on their initial abundance can be translated back to constraints on the primordial curvature power spectrum. In addition, due to the large available mass range for them, these limits could be extended into very small scales which are completely out of the reach of cosmological constraints which are coming from the combination of CMB, large scale structure and Lyman- α and covers the scales ($k \simeq 10^{-4}-1 \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$). Indeed these constraints could be go down to $k \simeq 10^7 \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$ for UCMHs while extend much more to $k \simeq 10^{23} \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$ for the PBH. So it would be extremely useful to increase our information about the very-much smaller scales that are otherwise to be probed by other kind of experiments.

In this article, we will use and update the known limits on the initial abundance of PBH as well as the UCMHs from a combination of many different kind of experiments, both current as well as considering futuristic ones. Assuming a Gaussian shape for the initial fluctuations, we will then connect these limits into the constraints on the amplitude of the initial curvature perturbations. For the case of PBHs, (in general) the constraints are very relaxed, $\mathcal{P}_R(k) \simeq 10^{-2}$, in their very wide k-space window. However, they could be more constrained if we use the CMB spectral distortions (CMB SD) as a probe. CMB SD increase the constraints by several orders of magnitudes, $\mathcal{P}_R(k) \simeq 10^{-5}$ for COBE/FIRAS and $\mathcal{P}_R(k) \simeq 10^{-8}$ for the proposed PIXIE. However, it is worth mentioning that this probe is only sensitive to $(1 \leq (k/\text{Mpc}^{-1}) \leq 10^4)$. The constraints coming from the UCMHs, on the other hand, are more informative. As we will see, there are several different probes on this candidate coming either from the particle physics side,like the Gamma-Ray, Reionization or Neutrinos, or from the gravity side, from Pulsar Timing. Some of these tests put more constraints on the initial amplitude of the curvature perturbation while the others, like for example the Reionization test, are more relaxed. In addition, as we will see in the following,

there is an ambiguity in the lower bound of density perturbation to build up the UCMHs. Some authors considered it to be a constant of order $\delta \simeq 10^{-3}$ while the others have taken its scale dependent into account. As well will see relaxing such an assumption would lead to few orders of magnitude changes in the constraints on the primordial power spectrum. Finally, we could also consider the constraints coming from the CMB SD for the UCMHs as well. Interestingly, their upper-bounds on the initial curvature power-spectrum is of the same order as the bounds on the PBHs.

The rest of the papers is entitled as the follows.

In section 2, we introduce PBH as well as their inferred observational constraints on the initial curvature power-spectrum. In section 3, we first introduce UCMH and then would list up the whole constraints on the amplitude of the primordial spectrum. In section 4 we will present the constraints on the spectrum coming from the combination of CMB, LSS and the Ly- α . We conclude in section 6.

2 A consideration of PBHs and their limits on the curvature power spectrum

As it is well-known, one of the examples of the astrophysical compact objects is the primordial black holes, here after PBHs, which are assumed to be created in the early stage of the universe and from the density perturbations. The intuitive picture behind their formation is the following: suppose that the density perturbations at the stage of the horizon re-entry exceeds a threshold value, which is of order one (≥ 0.3). Then the gravity on that region would overcome the repulsive pressure and that area would be subjected to collapse and will form PBH. Such a PBHs would span a very wide range of the mass range as follows, [146]

$$M \simeq \frac{c^3 t}{G} \simeq 10^{15} \left(\frac{t}{10^{-23}}\right) g$$
 (2.1)

where t, c and G denote the cosmic time, the speed of light and the gravitational constant, respectively.

Eq. (2.1) gives us an intuitive way to better see the huge range of the mass for the PBHs. Furthermore, we could even see that earlier formation of the PBHs lead to very tiny mass range. For example around the Planck time, $t \simeq 10^{-43}$, we could create PBHs of the order 10^{-5} g. Going forward in time, we could also see that around $t \simeq 10^{-5}$ s PBHs as massive as sun could be produced this way. Once they are created, they evaporate through the Hawking radiation and with the following lifetime,

$$\tau(M) \sim \frac{G^2 M^3}{\hbar c^4} \sim 10^{64} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\odot}}\right)^3 \text{ yr}$$
(2.2)

here $\tau(M)$ refers to the lifetime of the PBHs. A first look at eq. (2.2) does show that PBHs with a mass less than ~ 10¹⁵g or about 10⁻¹⁸ M_☉ would have evaporated by now. However, those with larger mass could still exist by today and they could be used as a candidate for the DM.

There are very tight observational constraints on the (initial) abundance of the PBHs. The purpose of this section is to use these constraints and translate them back to the primordial curvature power-spectrum constraints, as was first pointed out in [122]. In our following analysis, we would consider the full available range of the scales from $(10^{-2} - 10^{23}) \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$, therefore extending their case study to few more orders of magnitude. In order to get a feeling about the above wide range of the scales, it is worth to assume that at every epoch, the mass of the PBH is a fixed fraction f_M of the horizon mass, i.e. $M_H \sim \frac{4\pi}{3} (\rho_r H^{-3})_{k=aH}$. Where H refers to the Hubble constant. We assume $f_M \simeq (1/3)^{3/2}$. It is then straightforward to find,

$$\left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm eq}}\right) \sim \left(\frac{g_{\rm eq}}{g}\right)^{1/3} \left(\frac{k_{\rm eq}}{k}\right)^2 \tag{2.3}$$

where $M_{\rm eq} = 1.3 \times 10^{49} \left(\Omega_m^0 h^2\right)^{-2}$ g, $g_{\rm eq} \simeq 3$ and $k_{\rm eq} = 0.07 \ \Omega_m^0 h^2 \,{\rm Mpc}^{-1}$. We would also present few futuristic constraints on both of the curvature perturbation as well as the abundance. The type of the constraints that we get for the amplitude of the curvature perturbation is much relaxed as compared with similar constraints coming from the CMB and the LSS. However, at the same time, we go much beyond their scale. Therefore, this study gives us bounds on the inflationary models not otherwise tested.

Having presented a summary about the PBHs, we now investigate the observational constraints on the abundance of the PBHs. For this purpose, we define two important parameters:

(a) Initial abundance of PBHs or the mass fraction:

$$\beta(M_{\rm PBH}) \equiv \left(\frac{\rho_{\rm PBH}^{i}}{\rho_{\rm crit}^{i}}\right) \tag{2.4}$$

where the index *i* denotes the initial value. This quantity is particularly important for $M_{\rm PBH} < 10^{15}$ g though it is also widely used for the other branch of the PBH masses. And, can be used when we would like to put constraints on the initial curvature power-spectrum, as we will see in the following.

(b) (Current) fraction of the mass of Milky Way halo in PBHs:

$$f_h \equiv \left(\frac{M_{\rm PBH}^{\rm MW}}{M_{\rm CDM}^{\rm MW}}\right) \approx \frac{\rho_{\rm PBH}^0}{\rho_{\rm CDM}^0} \approx 5\Omega_{\rm PBH}^0 \tag{2.5}$$

This parameter is very useful for PBHs with $M_{\rm PBH} > 10^{15}$ g. In this case, PBHs could be interpreted as a candidate for the CDM.

Finally it is worth expressing the relationship between the above two quantities,

$$f_h = 4.11 \times 10^8 \left(\frac{M_{\rm PBH}}{M_{\odot}}\right)^{-1/2} \left(\frac{g_{\star,i}}{106.75}\right)^{-1/4} \beta(M_{\rm PBH})$$
(2.6)

In the following subsections, we first point out different observational constraints on the initial abundance of the PBH and then would present a consistent way to read off the constraints on the initial curvature power spectrum.

2.1 Observational constraints on the abundance of the PBHs

Below we present different observational constraints on the abundance of the PBHs including both of the current as well as the futuristic constraints. We update and extend up the previous analysis by [122] in few directions.

2.1.1 Disk heating

As was pointed out in [122–124], as soon as a massive halo object traverse the Galactic disk, it would heat up the disk and will increase the velocity dispersion of the disk stars. Finally, it would put a limit on the halo fraction in the massive objects. Though these limits are coming from the consideration of compact objects, we would expect them to be almost the case for the primordial black holes as well. The relevant limit is presented in table 1.

2.1.2 Wide binary disruption

Massive compact objects within the range $10^3 < (M_{\rm PBH}/M_{\odot}) < 10^8$ would affect the orbital parameters of the wide binaries, [125–127]. This would again constraints the abundance of the primordial black holes as it is presented in table 1.

2.1.3 Fast radio bursts

As it was recently pointed out in [57], the strong gravitational lensing of the (extragalactic) Fast Radio Bursts, here after FRB, by PBH would result in a repeated pattern of FRB. The associated time delay for these different images are of the order $\tau_{\text{Delay}} \sim \mathcal{O}(1) (M_{\text{PBH}}/(30M_{\odot}))$ ms. On the other hand, the duration of FRB is of the order ms as well. Therefore we should be able to see this repeated pattern out the signal itself for the PBH within the range $10 < M_{\text{PBH}}/M_{\odot} < 10^4$. There are several ongoing experiments to observe about 10^4 FRB per year in the near future, such as CHIME. We argue that a null search for such a pattern would constrain the ratio of the Dark Matter in the PBH form to be ≤ 0.08 for $M \geq 20M_{\odot}$. The detailed constraints on the β is given in table 1. It is worth mentioning that the details of the time delay shape does also depend on the PBH mass function; it would be different for the extended as compared with the delta function mass. So in principle one could also play around with that factor too. However, since the whole of the above constraints came for the mass function of the delta form, in order to compare the order of the magnitudes with each other, we avoid considering the extended mass functions for the PBHs.

2.1.4 Quasar microlensing

Compact objects within the mass range $10^{-3} < (M_{\rm PBH}/M_{\odot}) < 300$ would microlens the quasars and amplify the continuum emission though do not alter the line emission significantly, [128, 129]. Non-observation of such an amplification leads the presented limit on the abundance of the primordial black holes as in table 1.

2.1.5 Microlensing

Solar and planetary massive compact objects within the Milky Way halo could microlens stars in the Magellanic Clouds, [130–135]. Indeed, one of the most promising ways to search for the primordial black holes is to look for the lensing effects caused by these compact objects. An experimental upper bound on the observed optical depth due to this lensing is translated into an upper bound on the abundance of the primordial black hole in the way that is presented in table 1.

2.1.6 GRB femtolensing

As we already pointed it out above, lensing effects are a very promising approach to constrain the abundance of the PBHs. As it is well understood, within some mass ranges the Schwarzschild radius of PBH would be comparable to the photon wavelength. In this cases, lensing caused by PBHs would introduce an interferometry pattern in the energy spectrum which is called the femtolensing. [144] was the first person to use this as a way to search for the dark matter objects within the range $10^{-16} \leq M_{\rm PBH}/M_{\odot} \leq 10^{-13}$. A null detection of the femtolensing puts constraints on the abundance of the PBHs. The limits are shown in table 1.

2.1.7 Reionization and the 21 cm signature

The recent experimental results, such as WMAP, Planck, etc, have shown that the reionization of the Universe has occurred around $z \sim 6$. However, in the presence of the PBHs, this would be changed. Therefore, there is a limit on the abundance of the PBHs within the range, $M_{\rm PBH}/M_{\odot} > 10^{-20}$. In addition, as it was shown in [145], any increase in the ionization of the intergalactic medium leads to a 21*cm* signature. In fact, the futuristic observations of 21*cm* radiation from the high redshift neutral hydrogen could place an important constraint on the PBHs in the mass range $10^{-20} \leq M_{\rm PBH}/M_{\odot} \leq 10^{-17}$. The limits are shown in table 1. Keep in mind that these are the potential limits, rather than actual ones.

2.1.8 CMB spectral distortion

As PBHs evaporates, they could produce diffuse photons. Indeed the generated photons out the evaporations of the PBHs have two effects. On the one hand they directly induce the μ -distortion at the CMB. And on the other hand, they also heat up the electrons in the surrounding environment. Such electrons later on scatter the photons and produce the *y*distortion, [136]. Likewise, a PBH absorbing the diffuse material around it would also heat of the environment. the amount of such heating depends upon whether the infall free streams or accretes in a more complicated manner. The upper-limits from the COBE/FIRAS on CMB spectral distortions then put constraints on the initial abundance of the PBHs. The results are shown in table 1. Such an upper limit could be pushed down by about three orders of the magnitude if we consider the PIXIE experiments, taking into account that the distortion parameters, especially the *y*-distortion, are proportional to the initial abundance of the PBH, [136].

2.1.9 Photodissociation of deutrium

The produced photons by PBH can photodissociate deuterium, D. This leads to a constraint on the abundance of the primordial black holes, [136-140], as is presented in table 1.

2.1.10 Hadron injection

PBHs with a mass less than $M_{\rm PBH} < 10^{-24} M_{\odot}$ have enough life time, i.e. $\tau < 10^3$ s, to affect the light element abundances, [122, 138, 159, 160], during the cosmic history of the universe. This leads to a constraint on the abundance of the primordial black holes as it is presented in table 1.

2.1.11 Quasi stable massive particles

In any extensions of the standard model of the particle physics, there could be some generations of the stable or long lived(quasi-stable) massive particles, hereafter Quasi-SMP, with the mass of the order O(100 GeV). One way to get these particles produced is through the evaporation of the light PBHs with the mass $M_{PBHs} < 5 \times 10^{-23} M_{\odot}$. Once these particles are produced, they are subject to a later decay, say for example after the BBN, and therefore would change the abundance of the light elements. This leads to a constraint on the abundance of the primordial black holes, [141-143], as is presented in table 1.

2.1.12 Lightest supersymmetric particle

In supersymmetric extension of the standard model, due to the R-parity, the Lightest Sypersymmetric Particle (LSP) must be stable and be one of the candidates for the dark matter. LSP which are being produced through the evaporation of the PBHs, lead to an upper limit on the abundance of the PBHs to make sure not to exceed the observed CDM density, [122, 146]. The limit is shown in table 1.

2.1.13 Planck mass relics

Planck-mass relics could make up the Dark Matter today, if they are stable relics. In order not to exceed the current observed CDM density, there would be an upper limit on the abundance of the primordial black holes, [102], as it is presented in table 1. However, most theorists do believe that physics models have a stable Planck-mass relic. We present both of these options in figure 1.

Important point: so far we have considered a very wide range of the scales covered by PBH. Next, we figure out how much they do contribute on putting constraints on the amplitude of the primordial curvature power-spectrum. Surprisingly, as we will show in what follows, all of them do contribute almost the same and there is not any hierarchies between the constraints which are coming from any of the above current (or futuristic) observational constraints. However, there is indeed another type of the experiments, CMB spectral distortion, that gives us about three orders of magnitude stronger limits on the amplitude of the curvature perturbation, or even more for the proposed future PIXIE experiment. As the mechanism to derive the limit for this case is slightly different than the usual one for the above cases, we postpone considering this type of the constraints into the next sections and right after reading off the constraints on the amplitude of the power spectrum. Eventually we would compare them both to get a feeling on how they are gonna to put constraints on the primordial spectrum.

2.2 Constraints on the primordial power spectrum

In the following, we focus on how to derive the constraints on the amplitude of the curvature perturbation using the presented upper limits on β_{PBH} . Throughout our subsequent calculations, we only consider the Gaussian initial condition. We leave the impact of different realizations of the Non-Gaussian initial conditions for a follow up work.

As we already discussed at the end of the above subsection, depending on the type of the observations, there are two different ways to put constraints on the amplitude of curvature perturbations. We consider both of these approach in what follows. The first way is suitable to put limit on the whole of different observational limits presented in table 1. And, the second way is convenient for the Spectral Distortion type of the limits.

2.2.1 The first way to put limit on curvature power spectrum

As we already mentioned above, during the whole of this paper, we only consider the Gaussian initial conditions. Using this assumption, the probability distribution function for a smoothed

Description	Wave number range	Mass range	Constraints on $\beta(M_{\rm PBH})$
Disk heating	$10^{-3} \lesssim (k/{ m Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 10^3$	$10^7 \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 10^{18}$	$\lesssim 10^{-3} \left(f_M \frac{M_{\rm PBH}}{M_\odot} \right)^{-1/2}$
Wide binary disruption	$800 \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 10^5$	$10^3 \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 10^8$	$\lesssim 6\times 10^{-11} \left(\frac{M_{\rm PBH}}{f_M M_\odot}\right)^{1/2}$
Fast Radio Bursts	$2.9\times 10^4 \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 9.2\times 10^5$	$10 \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_{\odot}) \lesssim 10^4$	$\lesssim 1.4 \times 10^{-9} F_D(M_{\rm PBH}) \left(\frac{M_{\rm PBH}}{M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/2}$
Quasar microlensing	$1.2\times 10^5 \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 6.5\times 10^7$	$10^{-3} \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_{\odot}) \lesssim 300$	$\lesssim 2\times 10^{-10} \left(\frac{M_{\rm PBH}}{f_M M_\odot}\right)^{1/2}$
	$4.5\times10^5 \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 1.42\times10^6$	$1 \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 10$	$\lesssim 6 \times 10^{-11} \left(\frac{M_{\rm PBH}}{f_M M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/2}$
Microlensing	$1.42\times 10^6 \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 1.4\times 10^9$	$10^{-6} \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_{\odot}) \lesssim 1.0$	$\lesssim 2 \times 10^{-11} \left(\frac{M_{\text{PBH}}}{f_M M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/2}$
	$1.4\times10^9 \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 4.5\times10^9$	$10^{-7} \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 10^{-6}$	$\lesssim \times 10^{-10} \left(\frac{M_{\rm PBH}}{f_M M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/2}$
GRB femtolensing	$4.5 \times 10^{12} \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 1.4 \times 10^{14}$	$10^{-16} \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 10^{-13}$	$\lesssim 2 \times 10^{-10} \left(\frac{M_{\rm PBH}}{f_M M_{\odot}}\right)^{1/2}$
Reionization and 21 <i>cm</i>	$2\times 10^{14} \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 2\times 10^{16}$	$10^{-20} \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 10^{-16}$	$\lesssim 1.1 imes 10^{39} \left(rac{M_{ m PBH}}{M_{\odot}} ight)^{7/2}$
CMB SD (COBE/FIRAS) CMB SD (PIXIE)	$2\times 10^{16} \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 2\times 10^{17}$	$10^{-22} \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 10^{-20}$	$\lesssim 10^{-21} \\ \lesssim 10^{-24}$
photodissociate D	$2 \times 10^{16} \lesssim (k/{ m Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 6.3 \times 10^{17}$	$10^{-24} \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 10^{-21}$	$\lesssim 1.3 \times 10^{-10} \left(\frac{M_{\rm PBH}}{f_M M_\odot}\right)^{1/2}$
Hadron injection	$6.3 \times 10^{17} \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 6.3 \times 10^{18}$	$10^{-26} \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 10^{-24}$	$\lesssim 10^{-20}$
Quasi-SMP	$3.7\times 10^{16} \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 6.3\times 10^{18}$	$10^{-26} \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 10^{-21}$	$\lesssim 7 \times 10^{-30} \left(\frac{M_{\rm PBH}}{f_M M_{\odot}}\right)^{-1/2}$
LSP	$2\times 10^{17} \lesssim (k/\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}) \lesssim 2\times 10^{21}$	$10^{-31} \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 10^{-25}$	$\lesssim 7\times 10^{-30} \left(\frac{M_{\rm PBH}}{f_M M_\odot}\right)^{-1/2}$
Planck relic	$2\times 10^{21} \lesssim (k/{\rm Mpc^{-1}}) \lesssim 7\times 10^{25}$	$10^{-40} \lesssim (M_{\rm PBH}/M_\odot) \lesssim 3 \times 10^{-31}$	$\lesssim 7 imes 10^{31} \left(rac{M_{ m PBH}}{M_{\odot}} ight)^{3/2}$

Table 1. A summary of the constraints on the initial PBHs abundance, $\beta(M_{\text{PBH}})$ as a function of the mass. Possible future limits are designated in red.

density contrast would be given as,

$$P\left(\delta_{\rm hor}(R)\right) = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}\sigma_{\rm hor}(R)}\right) \exp\left(-\frac{\delta_{\rm hor}^2(R)}{2\sigma_{\rm hor}^2(R)}\right) \tag{2.7}$$

here $\sigma_{\rm hor}(R)$ refers to the mass variance as,

$$\sigma_{\rm hor}^2(R) = \int_0^\infty \exp\left(-k'^2 R^2\right) \mathcal{P}_\delta(k',t) \frac{dk'}{k'}$$
(2.8)

where we have used a Gaussian filter function as the window function.

Next, we use *Press-Schechter* theory to calculate the initial abundance of PBH as,

$$\beta(M_{\rm PBH}) = 2f_M \int_{\delta_{\rm crit}}^1 P\left(\delta_{\rm hor}(R)\right) d\delta_{\rm hor}(R)$$

$$\sim f_M {\rm erfc}\left(\frac{\delta_{\rm crit}}{\sqrt{2}\sigma_{\rm hor}(R)}\right)$$
(2.9)

Eq. (2.9) enables us to figure out the relationship between the initial abundance of the PBH and the mass-variance.

Before going through the details of the calculations, it is worth mentioning that, the abundance is a function of the R and so forth the scale through R = 1/k. More explicitly, this scale is associated with the second column of table 1. So although we take an integral over the wave-number, the results is still a function of the scale. Indeed at the end of the day, we would present this scale-dependence when we talk about the observational constraints on the primordial power-spectrum. Finally, we use the following expression to translate this back to the initial curvature power-spectrum,

$$\mathcal{P}_{\delta}(k,t) = \frac{16}{3} \left(\frac{k}{aH}\right)^2 j_1^2 \left(\frac{k}{\sqrt{3}aH}\right) \mathcal{P}_R(k)$$
(2.10)

where $j_1(x)$ refers the spherical Bessel function.

Plugging eq. (2.10) back into eq. (2.8) and setting $R = (aH)^{-1}$ we would get,

$$\sigma_{\rm hor}^2(R) = \frac{16}{3} \int_0^\infty (k'R)^2 j_1^2 \left(\frac{k'R}{\sqrt{3}}\right) \exp\left(-k'^2 R^2\right) \mathcal{P}_R(k') \frac{dk'}{k'} \simeq \left(\frac{16}{3}\right) \mathcal{P}_R(k_R) \int_0^\infty (k'R)^2 j_1^2 \left(\frac{k'R}{\sqrt{3}}\right) \exp\left(-k'^2 R^2\right) \frac{dk'}{k'}$$
(2.11)

where we have assumed that the power-spectrum can be locally approximated as a power-low function. More explicitly, we have assumed that,

$$\mathcal{P}_R(k) = \mathcal{P}_R(k_R) \left(\frac{k}{k_R}\right)^{n(k_R)-1} , \quad k_R \equiv 1/R$$
(2.12)

with $n(k_R) \sim 1$. We should emphasis here that relaxing this assumption does only change the results by few percent. So it is safe to neglect this dependency to simplify the analysis. The above integral is dominated around $k \sim R^{-1}$ due to the presence of $j_1^2 \left(\frac{kR}{\sqrt{3}}\right)$.

Plugging eq. (2.11) back into eq. (2.9) and calculate the inverse of this function, we could find the following expression for the primordial power-spectrum as,

$$P_{R}(k_{R}) = \left(\frac{3\delta_{\min}}{16\sqrt{2}}\right) \frac{\left(\operatorname{erfc}^{-1}\left[\beta(k_{R})/f_{M}\right]\right)^{-1}}{\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{k'}{k_{R}}\right)^{2} j_{1}^{2} \left(\frac{k'}{k_{R}}\right) \exp\left(-k'^{2}R^{2}\right) \frac{dk'}{k'}\right)}$$
(2.13)

where $\operatorname{erfc}^{-1}(x)$ denotes the inverse of $\operatorname{erfc}(x)$. There are several important facts about eq. (2.13) that are worth to mention here.

First of all, from eq. (2.13), it can be seen that after taking the integral over the wavenumber the result is still a function of the scale, k_R . In order to simplify the notation, here



JCAP01(2018)007

Figure 1. Different constraints on the amplitude of the primordial curvature perturbation power spectrum P_R coming from PBHs versus wave number. The solid green vertical line denotes $m_{\rm PBH} = 10^5 M_{\odot}$.

after we drop out the index R from k_R and just show the constraints on the primordial power spectrum as a function of k instead.

Second of all, from the above equation it can be easily seen how different constraints on the initial abundance would be mapped into various different constraints on the primordial power-spectrum.

Finally following the above trick and using the second column of table 1, we could obtain the constraints on the primordial power-spectrum. The results are given in figure 1 red color.

2.2.2 The second way to put limit on curvature power spectrum

As we already mentioned above, there is another way to put (stronger) limits on the primordial power-spectrum. This mechanism is only suitable for some small scaled perturbations, within the window $1 \leq k/ \text{Mpc}^{-1} \leq 10^4$, and arises from the Silk damping of the perturbations. This process generates μ and y spectral distortions, [152]. Here we present, in some details, refers to [152] for more detailed analysis, how to use these distortions to put constraints on the amplitude of the curvature power-spectrum. For this purpose, we would first present an expression for the μ and y distortions,

$$\mu = 13.16 \int_{z_{\mu,y}}^{\infty} \frac{dz}{(1+z)} \mathcal{J}_{bb}(z) \int \frac{kdk}{k_D^2} \mathcal{P}_R(k_R) \exp\left(-2\left(\frac{k^2}{k_D^2(z)}\right)\right) W(k/k_R)$$
(2.14)

$$y = 2.35 \int_0^{z_{\mu,y}} \frac{dz}{(1+z)} \int \frac{kdk}{k_D^2} \mathcal{P}_R(k_R) \exp\left(-2\left(\frac{k^2}{k_D^2(z)}\right)\right) W(k/k_R)$$
(2.15)

here $k_D = 4.1 \times 10^{-6} (1+z)^{3/2} \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$ is the silk damping scale. In addition, $\mathcal{J}_{bb}(z) = \exp\left(-(z/z_{\mu})^{5/2}\right)$ denotes the visibility function for the spectral distortion where $z_{\mu} = 1.98 \times 10^6$ and $z_{\mu,y} = 5 \times 10^4$ is the transition redshift from μ distortion to y distortion. Furthermore, $W(k/k_R)$ refers to the window function. We use Gaussian and top hat filter functions for PBH as well as the UCMHs, that we consider in the following sections, respectively.

The upper limits on the μ and y distortions coming from the COBE/FIRAS experiments are [151],

$$\mu \leqslant 9 \times 10^{-5}$$
 , $y \leqslant 1.5 \times 10^{-5}$ (2.16)

Using eqs. (2.14)-(2.16), we can then calculate the upper limits on the curvature power spectrum. The results are given in figure 1, dashed purple and cyan colors.

From the plot it is clear that there are at least three orders of magnitude hierarchy between the constraints coming from the spectral distortion as compared with the rest of the experiments, i.e. those who have been discussed in subsection 2.1. Therefore for PBHs CMB spectral distortion could be more informative. In addition, we should emphasis here that we only considered COBE/FIRAS type of the experiments, eq. (2.16). Going beyond that and considering PIXIE-like experiments could push this upper limit by another three orders of magnitude down, [152], and potentially bring a new window for the early Universe cosmology.

Before closing this section, we also present the futuristic constraints to see how much improvements we could expect going into futuristic experiments. According to table 1 there are three different ongoing experiments. In figure 2 we present their constraints on the curvature power-spectrum. In addition, we also present the possible improvements in the constraints from the PIXIE-like experiment. As we see the PIXIE could push the constraints by three orders of magnitude.

3 UCMHs and inferred limits on the primordial curvature power spectrum

By definition, UCMHs are dense dark matter structures, which can be formed from the larger density perturbations right after the matter-radiation equality. As was suggested in [71], if DM inside this structure is in the form of Weakly Interacting Massive Particles, WIMPs, UCMHs could be detected through their Gamma-Ray emission. Scott and Sivertsson, [155], the γ -emission from UCMHs could happen at different stages, such as e^-e^+ -annihilation, QCD and EW phase-transitions. This means that there should be an upper-limit cut-off on the available scale that we consider. On the other word, this kind of observations can not be as sensitive as that of PBH where we could go to the comoving wave-number as large as 10^{20} Mpc⁻¹. On the other hand, considering WIMPs as DM particles, there is also another (stronger) limit on the small scales structures that can be probed this way. As



Figure 2. Futuristic constraints on the amplitude of the primordial curvature perturbation coming from PBHs.

was first pointed out in [158], the kinetic decoupling of WIMPs in the early universe would put a small-scale cut-off in the spectrum of density fluctuations. Assuming a decoupling temperature of order MeV–GeV, the smallest protohalos that could be formed would range up between $10^{-11} - 10^{-3} M_{\odot}$. So in average the smallest possible mass would be about $10^{-7} M_{\odot}$. Translating this into the scale, we would get an average upper limit on the wave number of order $10^7 \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$. Interestingly, this corresponds to a time between the QCD and EW phase-transition which is somehow consistent with our previous thought about the upper-limit on the wave-number. It is worth to emphasis here that such an upper limit could be a unique way of shedding light about the nature of the DM as well as the fundamental high-energy universe. So it would be interesting to propose some experiments that are very sensitive to this cuf-off.

As they pointed out, density perturbations of the order 10^{-3} , though its exact number is scale dependent as we will point it out in what follows, can collapse prior or right after the matter-radiation equality and therefore seed the formation of UCMHs. Before going through the details of the formation as well as the structure of UCMHs, we compare them with both of the normal fluctuations during inflation as well as PBHs. As it is well-known, for most of the inflationary models, the density fluctuations are so tiny, about 10^{-5} , at the Horizon entry. So they do not collapse until some time after the matterradiation equality. However, there are some inflationary models in which the power-spectrum is much larger in some particular scales. Therefore the structures of the size associated with this particular scale might collapse far earlier than the usual case, even before the matterradiation equality. The most (known) example of such a very rapid collapse occurs for PBHs. In fact, PBHs would form once a perturbation of required amplitude get back into the horizon. A less severe case is UCMHs, in which the density perturbation gets back into the horizon during the radiation dominance and it would collapse at z > 1000 at least after matter-radiation equality.

3.1 Formation and the structure of UCMHs

Density fluctuations about 10^{-3} during Radiation Dominance suffice to create over-dense regions which later would collapse to UCMHs provided they survive to Matter dominance era. The corresponding mass for this specific fluctuations at the horizon re-entry would be, [121],

$$M_{i} \simeq \left(\frac{4\pi}{3}\rho_{\chi}H^{-3}\right) \bigg|_{aH\sim\frac{1}{R}}$$
$$= 1.3 \times 10^{11} \left(\frac{\Omega_{\chi}h^{2}}{0.112}\right) \left(\frac{R}{\text{Mpc}}\right)^{3} M_{\odot}$$
(3.1)

here Ω_{χ} denotes the fraction of the critical over-density in the form of the DM today.

As in the case of PBHs, identify R with 1/k. Doing this we would get, [121],

$$M_i \simeq 1.3 \times 10^{11} \left(\frac{\Omega_{\chi} h^2}{0.112}\right) \left(\frac{\text{Mpc}^{-1}}{k}\right)^3 M_{\odot}$$
(3.2)

Comparing eq. (3.2) with eq. (2.3), we see that their scale dependent is different. This is because, for PBH we use the radiation energy-density while for UCMHs we use the matter energy density.

During RD, the above mass is almost constant. However, it starts growing from the matter-radiation equality, both due to the infall of the matter as well as the baryons as, [71, 121]

$$M_{\rm UCMH}(z) = \left(\frac{1+z_{\rm eq}}{1+z}\right) M_i \tag{3.3}$$

A conservative assumption is that such a growth would continue until the epoch of standard structure formation which happens around $z \sim 10$. Therefore, the current mass of UCMH is given as, [71, 121],

$$M_{\rm UCMH}^0 \equiv M_{\rm UCMH}(z \le 10)$$

$$\approx 4 \times 10^{13} \left(\frac{R}{\rm Mpc}\right)^3 M_{\odot}$$
(3.4)

where we have assumed $\Omega_{\chi}h^2 = 0.112$.

Finally, for our next references, it is interesting to express as, [71, 121],

$$f_{\rm UCMH} \equiv \frac{\Omega_{\rm UCMh}(M_{\rm UCMH}^{(0)})}{\Omega_{DM}} = \left[\frac{M_{\rm UCMH}(z=0)}{M_{\rm UCMH}(z_{\rm eq})}\right] \beta(M_H(z_i))$$
$$= \left(\frac{400}{1.3}\right) \beta(M_H(z_i)) \tag{3.5}$$

3.2 Constraining UCMH abundance from different astro-particle-physical experiments

Having presented a quick introduction to UCMHs, it is worth figuring out how to observe or limit them and several different ways to (uniquely) distinguish them from the rest of the DM candidates.

In what follows, we present few different possibilities to shed light about UCMHs. As we will see, a null result out of each of these tests will lead to an upper-limit on the fraction of the DM in the form of the UCMHs. Finally, we would try to connect these upper limits to an upper-bound on the primordial curvature power-spectrum.

Before going through the details of these tests though, let us divide them up in two different categories,

- (1) Observational signals sensitive to the nature of the DM particles within UCMH structures. These are several items that are belong to this category as,
 - (Non-)observation of Gamma- rays from UCMHs by the Fermi-LAT,
 - (Possible) Neutrino signals from UCMHs to be detected by IceCube/DeepCore,
 - (Any) Modifications of Reionization observed by WMAP/Planck.
- (2) Observational signals which are NOT sensitive to the nature of the DM particles within UCMH structures. There are also (few) different mechanisms belong to this group as,
 - (Potential) Lensing time delay in Pulsar Timing from UCMHs to be detected in ATNF pulsar catalogue,
 - (Upper-limits) on CMB Spectral Distortion from UCMH by COBE/FIRAS and future observations.

Below we would consider the above ansatzs in some details and present the upper bounds on the abundance of UCMHs from each of them.

3.2.1 Gama-ray searches from UCMHs by Fermi-LAT

As we already mentioned, one of the most promising features of UCMHs was the fact that they could be a source of the Gamma rays if the DM inside of them is made of WIMPs. More specifically, γ -rays could be produced out of WIMP annihilation either to $\mu^-\mu^+$ or to $b\bar{b}$. So in principle, their contribution must be added together to give us the Flux of the photons. However, in order to find the most severe constraints on the abundance of UCMHs from the Non-detection of γ -rays, in [146] the authors only considered the annihilation of WIMP to $b\bar{b}$. The reason is that the photon flux for $\mu^-\mu^+$ is smaller than that for $b\bar{b}$. Therefore, the maximum available value for the abundance of UCMHs without big enough γ -rays is smaller for $b\bar{b}$ as compared with $\mu^-\mu^+$. In fact, it goes like $f_{\text{max}} \propto \Phi^{-3/2}$, see [146] for more details. Intuitively, it does make sense. Because the more the flux is the more constraint would be



Figure 3. The upper bound on the abundance of UCMHs from Fermi-LAT.

the abundance for no-detection experiments. Having this said, in what follows, we also only present the constraints for the $b\bar{b}$ annihilation. In addition, we only consider WIMP with mass $m_{\chi} = 1$ TeV with the cross-section $\langle \sigma v \rangle = 3 \times 10^{-26} cm^3 s^{-1}$. Observationally, since there has not been any detection of the γ -rays out the DM decay by Fermi, [147, 148], we could find an upper limit on the initial abundance of UCMHs within the Milky Way, [149, 150]. The results is shown in figure 3.

3.2.2 Neutrino signals from UCMHs by IceCube/DeepCore

If DM inside the UCMHs are made of WIMPs, in addition to γ -rays we should also get Neutrinos; being produced from the WIMP annihilation. These are expected to be detected either by ICeCube or DeepCore [161]. Moreover, the production of the γ -rays is accompanied with Neutrinos when the dark matter annihilate. Therefore, the current search for the Neutrinos are indeed complementary to that of the photons. Though we have three types of Neutrinos, among them ν_{μ} is the target for this search. The reason is that propagating through the matter or getting into the detectors, ν_{μ} could be converted to muons (μ). These are called the upward and contained events, respectively. Later, muons could be observed by the detectors on the Earth through their Cherenkov radiation. Here we only consider those muons which are produced inside the detectors, contained events. However, it turns out that the upward events also lead to nearly the same constraints, [161]. In addition, we only consider WIMP with the mass $m_{\chi} = 1$, TeV and with the averaged cross-section



JCAP01 (2018)007

Figure 4. The upper bound on the abundance of UCMHs from IceCube/DeepCore.

 $\langle \sigma v \rangle = 3 \times 10^{-26} cm^3 s^{-1}.$ The upper limit on the initial abundance of UCMH is shown in figure 4.

3.2.3 Change in reionization observed by WMAP/Planck

Another interesting fingerprint of WIMP annihilation is their impact on Reionization Epoch as well as the integrated optical depth of the CMB. If DM is within UCMHs, their impact on the evolution of Intergalactic Medium is more important. This structures could ionize and heat up the IGM after the matter-radiation equality which is much earlier than the formation of the first stars, [162]. This effect happens around the equality. So in connecting this into the fraction of the DM in UCMHs now we have $f_{\rm UCMH}(z = 0) \simeq 340 f_{\rm UCMH}(z_{\rm eq})$. As for $f_{\rm UCMH}(z_{\rm eq})$ we have,

$$f_{\rm UCMH}(z_{\rm eq}) \lesssim 10^{-2} \left(\frac{m_{\chi}}{100 \text{ GeV}}\right)$$
 (3.6)

This means that for $m_{\chi} = 1 \text{ TeV}$, f_{UCMH} would be saturated before today. From this and Using eq. (3.5), we could then achieve an upper limit on the initial abundance of UCMH. This upper bound is presented in figure 5. The presented plot is coming from the WMAP results. Adding the recent results from the Planck, could push the upper limits on the initial abundance by at most two orders of the magnitude, [52]. However, things does not change



Figure 5. The upper bound on the abundance of UCMHs from the Reionization coming from CMB observations.

too much as the limits coming from the Reionization are indeed the most relaxed ones as compare with the rest of the limits.

Having considered the details of the tests which are sensitive to the nature of the DM, in what follows, we would focus on few more events which are blind to the type of the DM within the UCMHs. While the first one is only sensitive to the gravity, the pulsar timing delay, the second one described by any distortion in the CMB SD.

3.2.4 Lensing time delay in pulsar timing by ATNF catalogue

There are some tests based on the gravitational effects and therefore do not care about the nature of the DM. There are at least two different types of the experiments like this. The first one is the *Gravitational Lensing* known as a very important tool to detect DM. And, it can put constraints on the abundance of the UCMHs by non-observing any changes in the position and/or the light curve of stars. However, as it turns out, in order to increase the sensitivity of such a test, one does need to consider super-precise satellites like THEIA. Another, even more precise, way to shed light about UCMHs is using the time delay in *Pulsar Timing*. In another word, we would like to measure the effect of an intermediate mass, here UCMHs, on the arrival time of millisecond pulsar, [164]. This method is based on the Shapiro effect, i.e. measuring any changes in the travel time of light rays which are passing through an area in which the gravitational potential is changing. As it was pointed out in [164], practically, one should take a look at the frequency of a pulse over a period of



Figure 6. The upper bound on the abundance of UCMHs from the Lensing time delay in Pulsar Timing by ATNF catalog.

time, say several years. And wait for any decrease, when a DM halo moves toward the line of sight of the pulse, as well as a subsequent increase, happens when it moves away from that area. Since millisecond pulsars are very accurate clocks, they can measure very small effects as well. Although this effect is tiny for an individual masses, it is indeed sizeable for a population of DM halo objects. More precisely, such a structure would lead to an increase in the dispersion of the measured *period derivative* of the pulsar. Using the statistical results of ATNF pulsar catalog, one finds an upper bound on the value of this dispersion and so forth on the abundance of the UCMHs. This bound can be translated back onto an upper bound on the number density of UCMHs within Milky Way and therefore put constraints on the initial abundance of UCMH. The results are shown in figure $6.^1$

3.2.5 Limits on CMB spectral distortion by COBE/FIRAS

As we already discussed above, in section 2.2.2, CMB spectral distortion could be also used as a way to shed-light about the DM. This is also independent of the nature of the DM. Indeed the analysis is quite similar to the case of PBHs, with only replacing the Gaussian filter function with the top-hat window function. So we skip repeating this again and just present the limits on the power-spectrum in the following part. The bounds coming from the CMB SD on the UCMHs are of the same order as in the case of the PBHs. Again,

¹There was an Erratum on the first publication of this bound. We thank Simon Bird for pointing this out to us.



Figure 7. A comparison between the upper bound on the abundance of UCMHs from different tests, such as Gamma-Ray, Dashed blue curve, Pulsar-Timing, Dotted orange curve, Neutrinos, dashed dot-dot red curve, and from Reionization, dashed dotted green curve.

COBE/FIRAS give us more relaxed constraints while the limits coming from the proposed PIXIE would be more severe by about three orders of the magnitude.

Before going through the details of the constraints on the power-spectrum, it is worth comparing the upper-bounds on the initial abundance of UCMHs for different tests. The results of this comparison is shown in figure 7.

3.3 Constraints on the primordial power spectrum

Having presented different constraints on the initial value of abundance, in what follows, we would translate them into an upper limit on the amplitude of the initial curvature perturbation. Likewise the case of PBHs, which was considered in subsection 2.2.1, we assume Gaussian initial condition. So the probability distribution function would be similar to eq. (2.7). However, in this case the variance would not be the same as eq. (2.8). Instead of that, it would behave as, [146],

$$\sigma_{\rm hor}^2(R) = \int_0^\infty W_{TH}^2(kR) \mathcal{P}_\delta(k) \frac{dk}{k}$$
(3.7)

where W_{TH} denotes the top-hat window function which is given as,

$$W_{TH}(x) \equiv 3\left(\frac{(\sin x - x\cos x)}{x^3}\right) \tag{3.8}$$



10⁻¹

10⁻²

10⁻³

 δ_{min}

Figure 8. A comparison between two different choices for the δ_{\min}

In addition, $\mathcal{P}_{\delta}(k)$ refers to the power-spectrum of the density fluctuations. During the radiation dominance the matter density perturbations do have the following evolution, [146],

$$\delta(k,t) = \theta^2 T(\theta) \mathcal{R}^0(k) \tag{3.9}$$

where $\theta = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \left(\frac{k}{aH}\right)$. Moreover, T(x) denotes the transfer function which turns out to have the following expression,

$$T(\theta) = \frac{6}{\theta^2} \left[\ln\left(\theta\right) + \gamma_E - \frac{1}{2} - Ci(\theta) + \frac{1}{2}j_0(\theta) \right]$$
(3.10)

here $\gamma_E = 0.577216$ is the Euler-Mascheroni constant, Ci is the Cosine integral and finally j_0 denotes the spherical Bessel function of the first rank.

Our next task is calculating the initial abundance for UCMHs. It is similar to eq. (2.9) for PBHs with changing the minimal required value of density contrast, i.e. δ_{\min} . As we pointed it out before, for producing PBH $\delta_{\min} \simeq 1/3$. However, for in UCMH case things are slightly more complicated and there are a bit ambiguities in the literature. While some of the authors approximate it to be around 0.001, the others also take into account the scale and the red-shift dependent of this function and achieve the following expression for δ_{\min} as,

$$\delta_{\min}(k,t) = \frac{8}{9} \left(\frac{3\pi}{2}\right)^{2/3} \left(a^2 H^2\big|_{z=z_c}\right) \frac{T(1/\sqrt{3})}{k^2 \mathcal{T}(k)}$$
(3.11)



Figure 9. The upper-limit on the amplitude of the curvature power spectrum from UCMHs. Here δ -scale means the scale dependent δ_{\min} while δ -const means that we have used $\delta_{\min} = 0.001$. The dash-dot-dot lines denote the constraints coming from the current limits from COBE/FIRAS.

where z_c denotes the red-shift of the collapse fr UCMHs. In addition, $\mathcal{T}(k)$ refers to a fitting formula for the transfer function around the time of matter-radiation equality, with the following form,

$$\mathcal{T}(\kappa) \simeq \left(\frac{\ln\left(1 + (0.124\kappa)^2\right)}{(0.124\kappa)^2}\right) \left[\frac{1 + (1.257\kappa)^2 + (0.4452\kappa)^4 + (0.2197\kappa)^6}{1 + (1.606\kappa)^2 + (0.8568\kappa)^4 + (0.3927\kappa)^6}\right]^{1/2}$$
(3.12)

where $\kappa \equiv \left(\frac{k\sqrt{\Omega_r}}{H_0\Omega_m}\right)$.

It is now worth to do compare the above two choices for δ_{\min} with each other. We have presented this in figure 8.

Taking the above points into account, the initial abundance of UCMHs would be,

$$\beta(R) \simeq \left(\frac{\sigma_{\rm hor}(R)}{\sqrt{2\pi}\delta_{\rm min}}\right) \exp\left(-\frac{\delta_{\rm min}^2}{2\sigma_{\rm hor}^2(R)}\right) \sim \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{\delta_{\rm min}}{\sqrt{2}\sigma_{\rm hor}(R)}\right)$$
(3.13)



Figure 10. The band of allowed curvature power spectrum amplitude from the combination of CMB, LSS and $Ly\alpha$.

Using eq. (3.13), we could obtain the constraints on the primordial power-spectrum. Although the approach is quite similar to what we have already done for the PBH, it is worth to clarify it a little bit as we would do in what follows.

First of all, we need to inverse eq. (3.13). Using the expression for the variance of the matter over-density as well as the transfer functions as given in eq. (3.7)-(3.10), we could now obtain an expression for the initial power-spectrum as,

$$P_R(k_R) = \left(\frac{\delta_{\min}(k_R)}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \frac{\left(\operatorname{erfc}^{-1}[\beta(k_R)]\right)^{-1}}{\left(\int_0^\infty W_{TH}^2(k'/k_R)\theta^4(k'/k_R)T^2(k'/k_R)\frac{dk'}{k'}\right)}$$
(3.14)

where in this case, we should use the scale dependent δ_{\min} and also the specific transfer function as it is given in eq. (3.10).

Finally, using the above upper-limits on the initial abundance of UCMHs as it is given in figure 7 and by using eq. (3.14), we could numerically find the upper limit on the amplitude of the curvature perturbations for each of the above tests.

The results are given in figure 9. There are several important points which are worth to be mentioned,

- There is a hierarchy of about three orders of magnitude between the constraints which are coming from the scale dependent δ_{\min} as compared with the constant δ_{\min} . Indeed the second choice gives us more constrained results for the curvature power-spectrum.
- Quite interestingly, the constraints from the Gamma-ray, Neutrinos and Pulsar-Timing are of the same order. Both for the constant and the scale dependent δ_{\min} .
- The constrained from Reionization are more relaxed as compared with the rest of the tests.
- The current version of the CMB spectral distortion, coming from COBE/FIRAS, does give us comparable results as compared with the scale-dependent δ_{\min} . As the next generation of CMB spectral distortion, from PIXIE, is supposed to push down the sensitivity by (about) three orders of magnitude, we do expect that their results are comparable with the constraints coming from constant value of δ_{\min} . Therefore, even if we do not assume a constant value for $\delta_{\min} = 0.001$, by going to the next generation of CMB experiments, we could hopefully get to a level of about 10^{-7} constraints on the amplitude of the curvature perturbation.

4 Determining the curvature perturbation from CMB, Lyman- α and LSS

Our final consideration would be on the most severe constraints on the relatively large scales probed by inflation. Here we cover the scales in the range $10^{-5} \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1} \leq k \leq 1 \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$. The CMB, large-scale structure and Ly α observations provide the best detections. We just present the final results here. The details can be found in [19, 20].

The results of the constraints are given in figure 10. The results are based on a model independent reconstruction of the primordial power-spectrum. For this purpose, in [20] the authors haves used a spline smoothing method which is sensitive to any deviation from the power law spectrum as well as running of the spectral index. Using a very comprehensive set of the cosmological data and performing a MCMC calculations, we could reconstruct the primordial power spectrum. Here are the set of the datas that they have tried in their Likelihood analysis, (a) Planck power spectrum of temperature and polarization anisotropies of the CMB, [7], (b) Planck reconstructed lensing data, [21], (c) The two point correlation function of the weak lensing from the Canada-France-Hawaii lensing Survey, [8], (d) The measurement of the position and the redshift of 2.38×10^5 galaxies up to redshift $z \leq 1.0$ by the WiggleZ Dark Energy Survey (WiggleZ), [9], (e) and finally a sample of the luminous red galaxies by the Sloan Digital Sky Survey, in Data release 7, here after (SDSS DR7), [10], where they have used these datas to reconstruct the halo density field and its power spectrum between $0.02h/Mpc^{-1} < k < 0.2h/Mpc^{-1}$. In order to have an intuition about them, here we present their results diagrammatically in figure 11.

Using the whole of these data sets, in figure 10, we present the best fit of the data, which is the mean line of the shaded region plus one sigma error bars for the reconstructed primordial power-spectrum. Quite interestingly, the results do really support the power-law spectrum and is compatible with having a scale-invariant spectrum that we are mainly focused in it in this paper.



Figure 11. The reconstruction of the two point correlation function and the scales covered by every experiments using the full set of the Planck, LSS, Canada-France-Hawaii lensing Survey, WiggleZ and SDSS DR7, [19].

5 Constraining the Dark Matter mass fraction for PBHs and UCMHs

So far we have presented the constraints on the initial abundance as well as the primordial power-spectrum for both PBHs and UCMHs. We now translate the above limits into the constraints on the fraction of the DM, f_{DM} , to be made of either PBH or the UCMHs at different mass scales.

It is also very interesting to challenge ourself to figure out how, and under which conditions, the tight constraints on the amplitude of the curvature perturbations from the UCMHs sector lead to "additional NEW constraints" on the fraction of the DM in PBH form. More explicitly, we would like to see whether the limits on UCMHs can also be treated to a limit on the PBH f_{DM} .

In the following subsections, we consider these two questions separately.

5.1 Direct constraints on f_{DM} in both of PBHs and the UCMHs

Let us begin with the direct constraints on the fraction of the DM for both of the PBH and the UCMHs. This can be done by trying to translate the limits on the initial abundance into f_{DM} . More explicitly, for the case of PBH, f_{max} is found by using table 1, for the information about the β and then by using eq. (2.6) to calculate f_{max} . For the UCMHs, we use the combination of figure 7 as well as the revised version of eq. (3.5) to calculate the value of f_{max} . We present the limits of the f_{DM} in figure 12.

From the plot, it is clear that the constraints on the UCMHs are more severe than the PBHs by several orders of the magnitude.

5.2 Indirect constraints on f_{DM} of PBH due to tight limits on the UCMHs

Having presented the direct limits on the fraction of the DM in the form of the compact object, we now determine how much more information can we get from the limits on UCMHs in regard to limits on PBHs. How do the tight constraints on the f_{DM} and the primordial power spectrum for UCMHs affect the bounds on the PBHs. One should be careful that such a link depends on the assumption that both objects have the same production mechanism. In other words, they must have been originated from the same seeds. For example they should both come from the primordial curvature fluctuations which is one of the most natural mechanisms to create them up. Assuming this happens, we will not expect too much hierarchies between these two. This is directly related to the tighter constraints on the primordial curvature power spectrum. We can conclude that if they came from the same primordial perturbations, then the failure to obtain UCMHs which require perturbations at $\leq 10^{-3}$ level, would imply that any reasonable PDF, not only Gaussian, would predict very low expectation of perturbations at 0.3 level. That is to say if the PBHs come from Inflationary/primordial fluctuations, then one would generally anticipate that there would be many more UCMHs than corresponding PBHs and their mass contribution to f_{DM} is much less, Thus the curvature fluctuation limit and the f_{DM} would restrict the fraction of DM in PBH between about $1M_{\odot} \leq M_{\rm PBH} \leq 10^{5.5} M_{\odot}$ to be much lower than $f_{DM} \leq 10^{-2}$.

In order to have an intuitive picture on how the tight constraints on the UCMHs would limit the creation of the PBHs, it is worth having a closer look at figure 13, where we have presented the whole of the constraints on the primordial curvature perturbation from different sectors and at various scales. Let us take the scale-dependent δ_{\min} as a reference for a moments. The limits are tighter for the constant valued δ_{\min} . So in order to put less possible constraints on the PBH, it is enough to just consider the most relaxed one, in this case the scale-dependent δ_{\min} . We will see that even this is enough to fully rule them out! We concentrate on the LIGO range, i.e. $1M_{\odot} < M_{\rm PBH} < 100M_{\odot}$. In order to have an estimation on how the tight limits coming from the UCMHs would affect PBHs, we use the upper-limit on the amplitude of the curvature power-spectrum and plug this back into eq. (2.9). If we further assume a Gaussian statistic for the initial seeds of these objects, then we could immediately observe that such a constraint would lead to very tiny value of the initial abundance, $\beta \ll 10^{-10^6}$, which is much smaller than necessary to have any contribution on the DM today! This has something to do with the very steep decaying behavior of the $\operatorname{erf} x$ toward the large values of x. It can be easily shown that changing the arguments of this function by three order of magnitude leads to the same constraints that we have found above. Any primordial perturbation PDF that does not have large extra non-gaussian peaks just to make PBHs will have a limit on f_{DM} well below 0.1. Therefore in order to not produce too many UCMHs, consistent with their null observational effects currently, and under the assumption that they both do carry nearly the same initial statistics, we conclude that it is almost impossible to be able to create any PBH within their overlap scales.

This constraint is likely only violated if PBHs are made from another source such as in first order phase transitions a la Dolgov and Silk or by collapsing cosmic strings. Both scenarios are unlikely to provide sufficient PBHs in this region. These constraints are not surprising in a simple slow roll and terminate Inflation model but do provide restrictions on the any large bump up in perturbations produced during later time Inflation.

5.2.1 Pulsar timing implications expanded

Since the pulsar timing limits are not sensitive to the type of the DM, we can use them to put new direct constraints on the PBHs as well. In another word, the green dashed-dotted-dotted line for the Pulsar timing could be also interpreted as a tool to put stronger constraints on the fraction of the DM in the form of the PBH. This limit is independent of whether the PBHs form from primordial fluctuations, phase transitions or cosmic strings. The origin is not important as that they exist at the present epoch.

So PBHs should be the ideal candidate for the pulsar timing limits and we interpret the results as independently as limiting f_{DM} to well less than 10^{-2} from $10^{-7}M_{\odot} \lesssim M_{\rm PBH} \lesssim 10M_{\odot}$.



Figure 12. The upper-limit on the amplitude on the fraction of the dark matter contained in PBHs and UCMHs. The pulsar timing limits apply to PBHs as well as UCMHs.

6 Conclusion

The large scale structure is (usually) thought to arise from the collapse of very tiny density perturbations, ($\sim 10^{-5}$), well after the matter-radiation equality. However, larger density fluctuations could seed the structures before or about the epoch of matter-radiation equality. There are two (well-known) types of these fluctuations, say PBHs and UCMHs.

As they are subjected to an earlier collapse and their initial abundance could be used as a probe of primordial curvature perturbations. In addition, since they have a very wide (available) window of wave-numbers, they could shed light about the small-scales which are completely out of the reach of any other cosmological probes.

In this work, we have revisited the bounds on the primordial curvature power-spectrum coming from PBHs and UCMHs. Our work and our limits could be summarized in figure 13, in which we have calculated and collected the whole, current and futuristic, constraints on the curvature power-spectrum. In addition, we have also presented the whole bounds from the combination of the CMB, LSS and the Ly α forest. We should notice that while constraints from CMB,LSS and the Ly α forest mean the upper and lower bounds of the amplitude of the primordial power spectrum, the other constraints for the PBH and the UCMHs show the upper limits.

There are few very important points that are worth mentioning.

First of all, the most relaxed kind of constraints on the primordial curvature spectrum are associated with PBHs, which are of order $\mathcal{P}_R \sim (10^{-2} - 10^{-1})$. These limits could be pushed down by several orders of magnitude, $\mathcal{P}_R \sim (10^{-5} - 10^{-4})$, if we also consider the CMB SD, though.



Figure 13. The full set of constraints on the amplitude of the primordial curvature power spectrum. The red dotted-dotted-dashed line denotes the direct constraints on from the PBHs. We also have plotted the indirect constraints on the PBH coming from the UCMHs with purple dotted line. The solid blue and red lines denote the constraints form the CMB spectral distortion. Furthermore, We would also present the limits from the UCMHs. Since the constraints depend on the threshold value of the δ , we present the limits for both of the constant, denoted by $\delta(c)$, as well as the scale dependent threshold, referred by $\delta(s)$.

Secondly, the constraints on UCMHs could be divided in two different pieces; those which depend on the nature of the DM such as, γ -ray, Neutrinos and Reionization. And, those which are blind to the type of the DM within these halos and are only sensitive to the gravitational effects like the pulsar timing.

Thirdly, the constraints on UCMHs do also depend on the minimal required value of the initial density fluctuation. There are currently two different choices commonly used for this function; it could be either a constant $\delta_{\min} \sim 10^{-3}$ or a function of the scale and redshift. Here we reconsidered the constraints for both of these choices to see how much the constraints would change. Our calculation showed that, this difference could lead to about 3-orders of magnitude changes on the upper-bound of the primordial curvature perturbation. Indeed, the most severe constraints, $\mathcal{P}_R \sim (10^{-7} - 10^{-6})$, are coming from the constant valued δ_{\min} .

Fourthly, except for the relatively relaxed constraints from the Reionization, $\mathcal{P}_R \sim (10^{-4} - 10^{-1})$, depends on the initial value of δ_{\min} as we pointed it out above, the rest of the bounds on UCMHs are indeed comparable. This is very informative. Because, as we pointed it out before, some of these limits do depend on the nature of the DM as well as their annihilation process etc. Some do not so such a limits are meaningful and independent of the DM details.

Fifthly, the constraints from the (current) CMB SD from COBE/FIRAS are comparable to the upper-limits from the scale-dependent δ_{\min} . However, considering the futuristic types

of CMB SD observations could possibly pushed down to be comparable with the constant choice of δ_{\min} .

Lastly, comparing the constraints from the (very) large scales with that of UCMHs, we could immediately see that they are not too far away. Therefore, although UCMHs might be a bit rare as compared with the usual case, they could give us comparable information in very small scales, down to $k \sim 10^7 \,\mathrm{Mpc^{-1}}$. This could be thought as an unique way of shedding lights about the fundamental physics at very early universe motivating further investigation of these objects.

UCMHs limits basically rule out $\mathcal{O}(10)M_{\odot}$ PBHs as the dark matter because unless there is a special very non-gaussian bump with about 10^{-20} of the area that goes out to $\delta \geq 0.3$ and then nothing down to below 10^{-3} the lack of UCMHs rules out PBHs over that long interval to well below the DM limits. Then the question is whether there is anything that denies or gets rid of UCMHs and that appear unlikely.

Acknowledgments

We are very much grateful to Andrew Cohen, Gary Shiu, Henry Tye and Yi Wang for the helpful discussions. R.E. is grateful to Simon Bird and Martin Schmaltz for the interesting discussions. The work of R.E. was supported by Hong Kong University through the CRF Grants of the Government of the Hong Kong SAR under HKUST4/CRF/13. GFS acknowledges the IAS at HKUST and the Laboratoire APC-PCCP, Université Paris Diderot and Sorbonne Paris Cité (DXCACHEXGS) and also the financial support of the UnivEarthS Labex program at Sorbonne Paris Cité (ANR-10-LABX-0023 and ANR-11-IDEX-0005-02).

References

- T.J. Pearson et al., The Anisotropy of the microwave background to l = 3500: Mosaic observations with the Cosmic Background Imager, Astrophys. J. 591 (2003) 556 [astro-ph/0205388] [INSPIRE].
- [2] C.L. Reichardt et al., High resolution CMB power spectrum from the complete ACBAR data set, Astrophys. J. 694 (2009) 1200 [arXiv:0801.1491] [INSPIRE].
- [3] QUAD collaboration, M.L. Brown et al., Improved measurements of the temperature and polarization of the CMB from QUaD, Astrophys. J. 705 (2009) 978 [arXiv:0906.1003] [INSPIRE].
- [4] D. Larson et al., Seven-year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) observations: power spectra and WMAP-derived parameters, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 192 (2011) 16
 [arXiv:1001.4635] [INSPIRE].
- [5] R. Hlozek et al., The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: a measurement of the primordial power spectrum, Astrophys. J. 749 (2012) 90 [arXiv:1105.4887] [INSPIRE].
- [6] PLANCK collaboration, P.A.R. Ade et al., Planck 2015 results. XX. Constraints on inflation, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A20 [arXiv:1502.02114] [INSPIRE].
- [7] PLANCK collaboration, N. Aghanim et al., Planck 2015 results. XI. CMB power spectra, likelihoods and robustness of parameters, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A11
 [arXiv:1507.02704] [INSPIRE].
- [8] C. Heymans et al., CFHTLenS: the Canada-France-Hawaii Telescope Lensing Survey, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 427 (2012) 146 [arXiv:1210.0032].

- [9] D. Parkinson et al., The WiggleZ dark energy survey: final data release and cosmological results, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 103518 [arXiv:1210.2130] [INSPIRE].
- [10] B. A. Reid et al., Cosmological constraints from the clustering of the Sloan Digital Sky Survey DR7 luminous red galaxies, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 404 (2010) 60.
- G. Aslanyan, L.C. Price, K.N. Abazajian and R. Easther, The Knotted Sky I: Planck constraints on the primordial power spectrum, JCAP 08 (2014) 052 [arXiv:1403.5849]
 [INSPIRE].
- [12] A. Vikhlinin et al., Chandra Cluster Cosmology Project III: cosmological parameter constraints, Astrophys. J. 692 (2009) 1060 [arXiv:0812.2720] [INSPIRE].
- [13] J.L. Tinker et al., Cosmological constraints from galaxy clustering and the mass-to-number ratio of galaxy clusters, Astrophys. J. 745 (2012) 16 [arXiv:1104.1635] [INSPIRE].
- [14] N. Sehgal et al., The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: cosmology from galaxy clusters detected via the Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect, Astrophys. J. 732 (2011) 44 [arXiv:1010.1025] [INSPIRE].
- [15] R. Reddick, J. Tinker, R. Wechsler and Y. Lu, Cosmological constraints from galaxy clustering and the mass-to-number ratio of galaxy clusters: marginalizing over the physics of galaxy formation, Astrophys. J. 783 (2014) 118 [arXiv:1306.4686] [INSPIRE].
- [16] SPT collaboration, L.E. Bleem et al., Galaxy clusters discovered via the Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect in the 2500-square-degree SPT-SZ survey, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 216 (2015) 27
 [arXiv:1409.0850] [INSPIRE].
- [17] H. Gil-Marín et al., The clustering of galaxies in the SDSS-III Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: BAO measurement from the LOS-dependent power spectrum of DR12 BOSS galaxies, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 460 (2016) 4210 [arXiv:1509.06373] [INSPIRE].
- [18] BOSS collaboration, F. Beutler et al., The clustering of galaxies in the completed SDSS-III Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey: baryon acoustic oscillations in the Fourier space, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 464 (2017) 3409 [arXiv:1607.03149] [INSPIRE].
- [19] A. Ravenni, L. Verde and A.J. Cuesta, Red, straight, no bends: primordial power spectrum reconstruction from CMB and large-scale structure, JCAP 08 (2016) 028 [arXiv:1605.06637] [INSPIRE].
- [20] E. Armengaud et al., Constraining the mass of light bosonic dark matter using SDSS Lyman-α forest, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 471 (2017) 4606 [arXiv:1703.09126] [INSPIRE].
- [21] PLANCK collaboration, P.A.R. Ade et al., Planck 2013 results. XVII. Gravitational lensing by large-scale structure, Astron. Astrophys. 571 (2014) A17 [arXiv:1303.5077] [INSPIRE].
- [22] SDSS collaboration, P. McDonald et al., The Lyman-α forest power spectrum from the Sloan Digital Sky Survey, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 163 (2006) 80 [astro-ph/0405013] [INSPIRE].
- [23] M. Tegmark and M. Zaldarriaga, Separating the early universe from the late universe: Cosmological parameter estimation beyond the black box, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 103508 [astro-ph/0207047] [INSPIRE].
- [24] G. Nicholson and C.R. Contaldi, Reconstruction of the primordial power spectrum using temperature and polarisation data from multiple experiments, JCAP 07 (2009) 011 [arXiv:0903.1106] [INSPIRE].
- [25] WMAP collaboration, E. Komatsu et al., Seven-year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) observations: cosmological interpretation, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 192 (2011) 18
 [arXiv:1001.4538] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J. Dunkley et al., The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: cosmological parameters from the 2008 power spectra, Astrophys. J. 739 (2011) 52 [arXiv:1009.0866] [INSPIRE].

- [27] R. Keisler et al., A measurement of the damping tail of the Cosmic Microwave Background power spectrum with the South Pole Telescope, Astrophys. J. 743 (2011) 28
 [arXiv:1105.3182] [INSPIRE].
- [28] S. Bird, H.V. Peiris, M. Viel and L. Verde, Minimally parametric power spectrum reconstruction from the Lyman-α forest, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 413 (2011) 1717 [arXiv:1010.1519].
- [29] R.D. Peccei et al., CP conservation in the presence of instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 1440.
- [30] G. Jungman, M. Kamionkowski and K. Griest, Supersymmetric dark matter, Phys. Rept. 267 (1996) 195 [hep-ph/9506380] [INSPIRE].
- [31] E.W. Kolb, D.J.H. Chung and A. Riotto, WIMPzillas!, AIP Conf. Proc. 484 (1999) 91
 [hep-ph/9810361] [INSPIRE].
- [32] Y.B. Zel'dovich and I.D. Novikov, The hypothesis of cores retarded during expansion and the hot cosmological model, Sov. Astron. 10 (1967) 602.
- [33] S. Hawking, Gravitationally collapsed objects of very low mass, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 152 (1971) 75 [INSPIRE].
- [34] S.W. Hawking, Black hole explosions, Nature 248 (1974) 30 [INSPIRE].
- [35] G.F. Chapline, Cosmological effects of primordial black holes, Nature 253 (1975) 251.
- [36] VIRGO, LIGO SCIENTIFIC collaboration, B.P. Abbott et al., Observation of gravitational waves from a binary black hole merger, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 061102
 [arXiv:1602.03837] [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. Bird et al., Did LIGO detect dark matter?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 201301 [arXiv:1603.00464] [INSPIRE].
- [38] M. Sasaki, T. Suyama, T. Tanaka and S. Yokoyama, Primordial black hole scenario for the gravitational-wave event GW150914, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 061101 [arXiv:1603.08338] [INSPIRE].
- [39] I. Cholis et al., Orbital eccentricities in primordial black hole binaries, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 084013 [arXiv:1606.07437] [INSPIRE].
- [40] D. Gaggero et al., Searching for primordial black holes in the radio and X-ray sky, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 241101 [arXiv:1612.00457] [INSPIRE].
- [41] Y. Ali-Haïmoud and M. Kamionkowski, Cosmic microwave background limits on accreting primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 043534 [arXiv:1612.05644] [INSPIRE].
- [42] T. Nakama, J. Silk and M. Kamionkowski, Stochastic gravitational waves associated with the formation of primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 043511 [arXiv:1612.06264]
 [INSPIRE].
- [43] S. Clark, B. Dutta, Y. Gao, L.E. Strigari and S. Watson, Planck constraint on relic primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 083006 [arXiv:1612.07738] [INSPIRE].
- [44] K. Schutz and A. Liu, Pulsar timing can constrain primordial black holes in the LIGO mass window, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 023002 [arXiv:1610.04234] [INSPIRE].
- [45] J. García-Bellido and E. Ruiz Morales, Primordial black holes from single field models of inflation, Phys. Dark Univ. 18 (2017) 47 [arXiv:1702.03901] [INSPIRE].
- [46] V. Domcke, F. Muia, M. Pieroni and L.T. Witkowski, PBH dark matter from axion inflation, JCAP 07 (2017) 048 [arXiv:1704.03464] [INSPIRE].

- [47] T. Namikawa, A. Nishizawa and A. Taruya, Detecting black-hole binary clustering via the second-generation gravitational-wave detectors, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 024013
 [arXiv:1603.08072] [INSPIRE].
- [48] M. Kawasaki, A. Kusenko, Y. Tada and T.T. Yanagida, Primordial black holes as dark matter in supergravity inflation models, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 083523 [arXiv:1606.07631] [INSPIRE].
- [49] B. Carr, F. Kuhnel and M. Sandstad, Primordial black holes as dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 083504 [arXiv:1607.06077] [INSPIRE].
- [50] F. Kühnel and K. Freese, Constraints on primordial black holes with extended mass functions, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 083508 [arXiv:1701.07223] [INSPIRE].
- [51] Y. Akrami, F. Kuhnel and M. Sandstad, Uncertainties in primordial black-hole constraints on the primordial power spectrum, arXiv:1611.10069 [INSPIRE].
- [52] L. Chen, Q.-G. Huang and K. Wang, Constraint on the abundance of primordial black holes in dark matter from Planck data, JCAP 12 (2016) 044 [arXiv:1608.02174] [INSPIRE].
- [53] S. Clesse and J. García-Bellido, Detecting the gravitational wave background from primordial black hole dark matter, Phys. Dark Univ. 18 (2017) 105 [arXiv:1610.08479] [INSPIRE].
- [54] T. Nakamura et al., Pre-DECIGO can get the smoking gun to decide the astrophysical or cosmological origin of GW150914-like binary black holes, PTEP 2016 (2016) 093E01
 [arXiv:1607.00897] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Raccanelli, E.D. Kovetz, S. Bird, I. Cholis and J.B. Muñoz, Determining the progenitors of merging black-hole binaries, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 023516 [arXiv:1605.01405] [INSPIRE].
- [56] T.D. Brandt, Constraints on MACHO dark matter from compact stellar systems in ultra-faint dwarf galaxies, Astrophys. J. 824 (2016) L31 [arXiv:1605.03665] [INSPIRE].
- [57] J.B. Muñoz, E.D. Kovetz, L. Dai and M. Kamionkowski, Lensing of fast radio bursts as a probe of compact dark matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 091301 [arXiv:1605.00008] [INSPIRE].
- [58] Y. Inoue and A. Kusenko, New X-ray bound on density of primordial black holes, JCAP 10 (2017) 034 [arXiv:1705.00791] [INSPIRE].
- [59] T. Chiba and S. Yokoyama, Spin distribution of primordial black holes, PTEP 2017 (2017) 083E01 [arXiv:1704.06573] [INSPIRE].
- [60] J.-O. Gong and N. Kitajima, Small-scale structure and 21cm fluctuations by primordial black holes, JCAP 08 (2017) 017 [arXiv:1704.04132] [INSPIRE].
- [61] G.M. Fuller, A. Kusenko and V. Takhistov, Primordial black holes and r-process nucleosynthesis, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 061101 [arXiv:1704.01129] [INSPIRE].
- [62] J. Georg and S. Watson, A preferred mass range for primordial black hole formation and black holes as dark matter revisited, JHEP 09 (2017) 138 [arXiv:1703.04825] [INSPIRE].
- [63] J. García-Bellido, Massive primordial black holes as dark matter and their detection with gravitational waves, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 840 (2017) 012032 [arXiv:1702.08275] [INSPIRE].
- [64] J.R. Rice and B. Zhang, Cosmological evolution of primordial black holes, JHEAp 13-14 (2017) 22 [arXiv:1702.08069] [INSPIRE].
- [65] A. Dolgov and K. Postnov, Globular cluster seeding by primordial black hole population, JCAP 04 (2017) 036 [arXiv:1702.07621] [INSPIRE].
- [66] K.M. Belotsky, A.A. Kirillov, N.O. Nazarova and S.G. Rubin, Reionization effect enhancement due to primordial black holes, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 26 (2017) 1750102 [arXiv:1702.06338] [INSPIRE].

- [67] K. Kannike, L. Marzola, M. Raidal and H. Veermäe, Single field double inflation and primordial black holes, JCAP 09 (2017) 020 [arXiv:1705.06225] [INSPIRE].
- [68] B. Carr, M. Raidal, T. Tenkanen, V. Vaskonen and H. Veermäe, Primordial black hole constraints for extended mass functions, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 023514 [arXiv:1705.05567] [INSPIRE].
- [69] J.M. Ezquiaga, J. García-Bellido and E. Ruiz Morales, Primordial black hole production in critical Higgs inflation, Phys. Lett. B 776 (2018) 345 [arXiv:1705.04861] [INSPIRE].
- [70] E.D. Kovetz, Probing primordial-black-hole dark matter with gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 131301 [arXiv:1705.09182] [INSPIRE].
- [71] M. Ricotti and A. Gould, A new probe of dark matter and high-energy universe using microlensing, Astrophys. J. 707 (2009) 979 [arXiv:0908.0735] [INSPIRE].
- [72] K.Y. Choi, J.O. Gong and C.S. Shin, *Dark matter with ultra compact mini halos*, PoS(PLANCK 2015)025.
- [73] G. Aslanyan et al., Ultracompact minihalos as probes of inflationary cosmology, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 141102 [arXiv:1512.04597] [INSPIRE].
- [74] G. Beck and S. Colafrancesco, Hunting dark matter in ultra-compact structures within the Milky-Way, arXiv:1612.00169 [INSPIRE].
- [75] Y. Yang, Contributions of dark matter annihilation within ultracompact minihalos to the 21 cm background signal, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 131 (2016) 432 [arXiv:1612.06559] [INSPIRE].
- [76] H.A. Clark, N. Iwanus, P.J. Elahi, G.F. Lewis and P. Scott, *Heating of galactic gas by dark matter annihilation in ultracompact minihalos*, JCAP 05 (2017) 048 [arXiv:1611.08619] [INSPIRE].
- [77] M. Anthonisen, R. Brandenberger and P. Scott, Constraints on cosmic strings from ultracompact minihalos, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 023521 [arXiv:1504.01410] [INSPIRE].
- [78] K. Kohri, T. Nakama and T. Suyama, Testing scenarios of primordial black holes being the seeds of supermassive black holes by ultracompact minihalos and CMB μ-distortions, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 083514 [arXiv:1405.5999] [INSPIRE].
- [79] Y.-L. Zheng, Y.-P. Yang, M.-Z. Li and H.-S. Zong, Constraints on ultracompact minihalos using neutrino signals from gravitino dark matter decay, Res. Astron. Astrophys. 14 (2014) 1215 [arXiv:1404.0433] [INSPIRE].
- [80] V.S. Berezinsky, V.I. Dokuchaev and Yu.N. Eroshenko, Formation and internal structure of superdense dark matter clumps and ultracompact minihaloes, JCAP 11 (2013) 059 [arXiv:1308.6742] [INSPIRE].
- [81] Y.-P. Yang, L. Feng, X.-Y. Huang, X. Chen, T. Lu and H.-S. Zong, Constraints on ultracompact minihalos from extragalactic γ-ray background, JCAP 12 (2011) 020 [arXiv:1112.6229] [INSPIRE].
- [82] A. Dolgov and J. Silk, Baryon isocurvature fluctuations at small scales and baryonic dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 47 (1993) 4244 [INSPIRE].
- [83] K. Jedamzik, Primordial black hole formation during the QCD epoch, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 5871 [astro-ph/9605152] [INSPIRE].
- [84] P. Widerin and C. Schmid, Primordial black holes from the QCD transition?, astro-ph/9808142 [INSPIRE].
- [85] J. García-Bellido, A.D. Linde and D. Wands, Density perturbations and black hole formation in hybrid inflation, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 6040 [astro-ph/9605094] [INSPIRE].
- [86] M. Kawasaki and Y. Tada, Can massive primordial black holes be produced in mild waterfall hybrid inflation?, JCAP 08 (2016) 041 [arXiv:1512.03515] [INSPIRE].

- [87] S. Clesse and J. García-Bellido, Massive primordial black holes from hybrid inflation as dark matter and the seeds of galaxies, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 023524 [arXiv:1501.07565] [INSPIRE].
- [88] J. Yokoyama, Chaotic new inflation and formation of primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 083510 [astro-ph/9802357] [INSPIRE].
- [89] M. Kawasaki and T. Yanagida, Primordial black hole formation in supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 043512 [hep-ph/9807544] [INSPIRE].
- [90] M. Kawasaki, N. Sugiyama and T. Yanagida, Primordial black hole formation in a double inflation model in supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 57 (1998) 6050 [hep-ph/9710259] [INSPIRE].
- [91] T. Kawaguchi et al., Formation of intermediate-mass black holes as primordial black holes in the inflationary cosmology with running spectral index, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 388 (2008) 1426 [arXiv:0711.3886].
- [92] P.H. Frampton, M. Kawasaki, F. Takahashi and T.T. Yanagida, Primordial black holes as all dark matter, JCAP 04 (2010) 023 [arXiv:1001.2308] [INSPIRE].
- [93] M. Kawasaki, N. Kitajima and T.T. Yanagida, Primordial black hole formation from an axionlike curvaton model, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 063519 [arXiv:1207.2550] [INSPIRE].
- [94] K. Kohri, C.-M. Lin and T. Matsuda, Primordial black holes from the inflating curvaton, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 103527 [arXiv:1211.2371] [INSPIRE].
- [95] E. Bugaev and P. Klimai, Cosmological constraints on the curvaton web parameters, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 023521 [arXiv:1212.6529] [INSPIRE].
- [96] A. Linde, S. Mooij and E. Pajer, Gauge field production in supergravity inflation: local non-gaussianity and primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 103506 [arXiv:1212.1693] [INSPIRE].
- [97] E. Erfani, Primordial black holes formation from particle production during inflation, JCAP 04 (2016) 020 [arXiv:1511.08470] [INSPIRE].
- [98] J. García-Bellido, M. Peloso and C. Unal, Gravitational waves at interferometer scales and primordial black holes in axion inflation, JCAP 12 (2016) 031 [arXiv:1610.03763] [INSPIRE].
- [99] S.-L. Cheng, W. Lee and K.-W. Ng, Production of high stellar-mass primordial black holes in trapped inflation, JHEP 02 (2017) 008 [arXiv:1606.00206] [INSPIRE].
- [100] M.Y. Khlopov and A.G. Polnarev, Primordial black holes as a cosmological test of grand unification, Phys. Lett. B 97 (1980) 383.
- [101] M. Khlopov, B.A. Malomed and I.B. Zeldovich, Gravitational instability of scalar fields and formation of primordial black holes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 215 (1985) 575 [INSPIRE].
- [102] B.J. Carr, J.H. Gilbert and J.E. Lidsey, Black hole relics and inflation: limits on blue perturbation spectra, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 4853 [astro-ph/9405027] [INSPIRE].
- [103] M. Crawford and D.N. Schramm, Spontaneous generation of density perturbations in the early universe, Nature 298 (1982) 538 [INSPIRE].
- [104] H. Kodama, M. Sasaki and K. Sato, Abundance of primordial holes produced by cosmological first order phase transition, Prog. Theor. Phys. 68 (1982) 1979 [INSPIRE].
- [105] S.W. Hawking, I.G. Moss and J.M. Stewart, Bubble collisions in the very early universe, Phys. Rev. D 26 (1982) 2681 [INSPIRE].
- [106] D. La and P.J. Steinhardt, Bubble percolation in extended inflationary models, Phys. Lett. B 220 (1989) 375 [INSPIRE].
- [107] I.G. Moss, Singularity formation from colliding bubbles, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 676
 [INSPIRE].

- [108] R.V. Konoplich, S.G. Rubin, A.S. Sakharov and M.Yu. Khlopov, Formation of black holes in first-order phase transitions as a cosmological test of symmetry-breaking mechanisms, Phys. Atom. Nucl. 62 (1999) 1593 [INSPIRE].
- [109] C.J. Hogan, Massive black holes generated by cosmic strings, Phys. Lett. **143B** (1984) 87.
- [110] A. Polnarev and R. Zembowicz, Formation of primordial black holes by cosmic strings, Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) 1106 [INSPIRE].
- [111] S.W. Hawking, Black holes from cosmic strings, Phys. Lett. B 231 (1989) 237 [INSPIRE].
- [112] J. Garriga and M. Sakellariadou, Effects of friction on cosmic strings, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) 2502 [hep-th/9303024] [INSPIRE].
- [113] R.R. Caldwell and P. Casper, Formation of black holes from collapsed cosmic string loops, Phys. Rev. D 53 (1996) 3002 [gr-qc/9509012] [INSPIRE].
- [114] H.B. Cheng and X.Z. Li, Primordial black holes and cosmic string loop, Chin. Phys. Lett. 13 (1996) 317.
- [115] R.N. Hansen, M. Christensen and A.L. Larsen, Cosmic string loops collapsing to black holes, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15 (2000) 4433 [gr-qc/9902048] [INSPIRE].
- [116] J.H. MacGibbon, R.H. Brandenberger and U.F. Wichoski, Limits on black hole formation from cosmic string loops, Phys. Rev. D 57 (1998) 2158 [astro-ph/9707146] [INSPIRE].
- [117] R.R. Caldwell, A. Chamblin and G.W. Gibbons, Pair creation of black holes by domain walls, Phys. Rev. D 53 (1996) 7103 [hep-th/9602126] [INSPIRE].
- [118] V. A. Berezin, V.A. Kuzmin and I.I. Tkachev, Thin wall vacuum domains evolution, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 91.
- [119] S.G. Rubin, M.Yu. Khlopov and A.S. Sakharov, Primordial black holes from nonequilibrium second order phase transition, Grav. Cosmol. 6 (2000) 51 [hep-ph/0005271] [INSPIRE].
- [120] M.Y. Khlopov, R.V. Konoplich, S.G. Rubin and A.S. Sakharov, First-order phase transitions as a source of black holes in the early universe, Grav. Cosmol. 6 (2000) 153.
- [121] T. Bringmann, P. Scott and Y. Akrami, Improved constraints on the primordial power spectrum at small scales from ultracompact minihalos, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 125027 [arXiv:1110.2484] [INSPIRE].
- [122] A.S. Josan, A.M. Green and K.A. Malik, Generalised constraints on the curvature perturbation from primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 103520 [arXiv:0903.3184] [INSPIRE].
- [123] C.G. Lacey and J.P. Ostriker, Massive black holes in galactic halos?, Astrophys. J. 299 (1985)
 633.
- B.J. Carr and M. Sakellariadou, Dynamical constraints on dark compact objects, Astrophys. J. 516 (1999) 195 [INSPIRE].
- [125] J.N. Bahcall, P. Hut and S. Tremaine, Shielding of CO from dissociating radiation in interstellar clouds, Astrophys. J. 290 (1985) 15.
- [126] M.D. Weinberg, S.L. Shapiro and I. Wasserman, The dynamical fate of wide binaries in the solar neighborhood, Astrophys. J. 312 (1987) 367.
- [127] D.P. Quinn et al., On the reported death of the MACHO era, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 396 (2009) 11 [arXiv:0903.1644].
- [128] J.J. Dalcanton et al., Observational limits on Omega in stars, brown dwarfs, and stellar remnants from gravitational microlensing, Astrophys. J. 424 (1994) 550.
- [129] C.R. Canizares, Manifestations of a cosmological density of compact objects in quasar light, Astrophys. J. 263 (1982) 508.

- [130] B. Paczynski, Gravitational microlensing by the galactic halo, Astrophys. J. 304 (1986) 1
 [INSPIRE].
- [131] K. Griest, Galactic microlensing as a method of detecting massive compact halo objects, Astrophys. J. 366 (1991) 412 [INSPIRE].
- [132] MACHO collaboration, C. Alcock et al., The MACHO project: Microlensing results from 5.7 years of LMC observations, Astrophys. J. 542 (2000) 281 [astro-ph/0001272] [INSPIRE].
- [133] EROS-2 collaboration, P. Tisserand et al., Limits on the macho content of the galactic halo from the EROS-2 survey of the Magellanic clouds, Astron. Astrophys. 469 (2007) 387
 [astro-ph/0607207] [INSPIRE].
- [134] MACHO, EROS collaboration, C. Alcock et al., EROS and MACHO combined limits on planetary mass dark matter in the galactic halo, Astrophys. J. 499 (1998) L9
 [astro-ph/9803082] [INSPIRE].
- [135] MACHO collaboration, R.A. Allsman et al., MACHO project limits on black hole dark matter in the 1-30 solar mass range, Astrophys. J. 550 (2001) L169 [astro-ph/0011506] [INSPIRE].
- [136] H. Tashiro and N. Sugiyama, Constraints on primordial black holes by distortions of Cosmic Microwave Background, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 023004 [arXiv:0801.3172] [INSPIRE].
- [137] D. Lindley, Primordial black holes and the deuterium abundance, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 193 (1980) 593.
- [138] D. Clancy, R. Guedens and A.R. Liddle, Primordial black holes in brane world cosmologies: astrophysical constraints, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 023507 [astro-ph/0301568] [INSPIRE].
- [139] P.D. Naselskii, Hydrogen recombination kinetics in the presence of low-mass primordial black holes, Sov. Astron. Lett. 4 (1978) 209.
- [140] J.C. Mather et al., Measurement of the Cosmic Microwave Background spectrum by the COBE FIRAS instrument, Astrophys. J. 420 (1994) 439 [INSPIRE].
- [141] A.M. Green, Supersymmetry and primordial black hole abundance constraints, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 063516 [astro-ph/9903484] [INSPIRE].
- [142] M. Lemoine, Moduli constraints on primordial black holes, Phys. Lett. B 481 (2000) 333
 [hep-ph/0001238] [INSPIRE].
- [143] M. Yu. Khlopov, A. Barrau and J. Grain, Gravitino production by primordial black hole evaporation and constraints on the inhomogeneity of the early universe, Class. Quant. Grav. 23 (2006) 1875 [astro-ph/0406621] [INSPIRE].
- [144] A. Gould, Femtolensing of gamma-ray bursters, Astrophys. J. 386 (1992) L5.
- [145] K.J. Mack and D.H. Wesley, Primordial black holes in the Dark Ages: observational prospects for future 21 cm surveys, arXiv:0805.1531 [INSPIRE].
- [146] B.J. Carr, K. Kohri, Y. Sendouda and J. Yokoyama, New cosmological constraints on primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 104019 [arXiv:0912.5297] [INSPIRE].
- [147] M.R. Buckley and D. Hooper, Dark matter subhalos in the Fermi first source catalog, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 063501 [arXiv:1004.1644] [INSPIRE].
- [148] FERMI-LAT collaboration, M. Ackermann et al., Search for dark matter satellites using the FERMI-LAT, Astrophys. J. 747 (2012) 121 [arXiv:1201.2691] [INSPIRE].
- [149] A. Klypin, H. Zhao and R.S. Somerville, ΛCDM-based models for the Milky Way and M31. I: dynamical models, Astrophys. J. 573 (2002) 597 [astro-ph/0110390] [INSPIRE].
- [150] A.S. Josan and A.M. Green, Gamma-rays from ultracompact minihalos: potential constraints on the primordial curvature perturbation, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 083527 [arXiv:1006.4970]
 [INSPIRE].

- [151] D.J. Fixsen et al., The Cosmic Microwave Background spectrum from the full COBE FIRAS data set, Astrophys. J. 473 (1996) 576 [astro-ph/9605054] [INSPIRE].
- [152] J. Chluba, A.L. Erickcek and I. Ben-Dayan, Probing the inflaton: small-scale power spectrum constraints from measurements of the CMB energy spectrum, Astrophys. J. 758 (2012) 76 [arXiv:1203.2681] [INSPIRE].
- [153] D. Aloni, K. Blum and R. Flauger, Cosmic Microwave Background constraints on primordial black hole dark matter, JCAP 05 (2017) 017 [arXiv:1612.06811] [INSPIRE].
- [154] P. Scott, T. Bringmann and Y. Akrami, Constraints on small-scale cosmological perturbations from gamma-ray searches for dark matter, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 375 (2012) 032012 [arXiv:1205.1432] [INSPIRE].
- [155] P. Scott and S. Sivertsson, Gamma-Rays from Ultracompact Primordial Dark Matter Minihalos, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (2009) 211301 [Erratum ibid. 105 (2010) 119902]
 [arXiv:0908.4082] [INSPIRE].
- [156] M.C. Miller, Reionization constraints on the contribution of primordial compact objects to dark matter, Astrophys. J. 544 (2000) 43 [astro-ph/0003176] [INSPIRE].
- [157] B. Horowitz, Revisiting primordial black holes constraints from ionization history, arXiv:1612.07264 [INSPIRE].
- [158] T. Bringmann, Particle models and the small-scale structure of dark matter, New J. Phys. 11 (2009) 105027 [arXiv:0903.0189] [INSPIRE].
- [159] S. Miyama and K. Sato, The upper bound of the number density of primordial black holes from the Big Bang nucleosynthesis, Prog. Theor. Phys. **59** (1978) 1012 [INSPIRE].
- [160] K. Kohri and J. Yokoyama, Primordial black holes and primordial nucleosynthesis. 1. Effects of hadron injection from low mass holes, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 023501 [astro-ph/9908160]
 [INSPIRE].
- [161] Y. Yang, G. Yang and H. Zong, Neutrino signals from ultracompact minihalos and constraints on the primordial curvature perturbation, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 103525 [arXiv:1305.4213]
 [INSPIRE].
- [162] D. Zhang, Impact of primordial ultracompact minihaloes on the intergalactic medium and first structure formation, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 418 (2011) 1850 [arXiv:1011.1935].
- [163] F. Li, A.L. Erickcek and N.M. Law, A new probe of the small-scale primordial power spectrum: astrometric microlensing by ultracompact minihalos, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 043519 [arXiv:1202.1284] [INSPIRE].
- [164] H.A. Clark, G.F. Lewis and P. Scott, Investigating dark matter substructure with pulsar timing — I. Constraints on ultracompact minihaloes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 456 (2016) 1394 [arXiv:1509.02938] [INSPIRE].